A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court denied appellant his constitutional right 

to representation when it refused to appoint conflict-free counsel to 

handle a motion for new trial, effectively leaving appellant without the 

assistance of counsel. 

2. The trial court erred when it considered and denied 

appellant's motion for new trial on the merits where appellant was 

without conflict-free counsel to prepare and argue the motion. 

3. The trial court erred when it denied appellant's motion 

to reconsider based on the failure to appoint new counsel. 

4. The trial court erred when it denied appellant's motion 

to vacate judgment under CrR 7.8 based on ineffective assistance of 

trial counsel. 

5. The trial court erred when it found , during its oral 

decision denying the CrR 7.8 motion, that it was not clear appellant 

would have accepted an offer to plead guilty to Assault 3 without an 

assurance it would avoid deportation and the State would not have 

been willing to "sanitize" an assault conviction to the degree 

necessary to avoid deportation. 
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Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Every criminal defendant has the right to legal 

representation on a motion for new trial. Where the defendant 

claims ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the trial court must 

appoint conflict-free counsel to handle the motion. Did the Superior 

Court deny appellant this right when it denied his counsel's motion to 

withdraw and refused to appoint conflict-free counsel? 

2. The trial judge was informed of the conflict, and 

appellant's desire to add additional claims to the motion for new trial 

(including ineffective assistance claims), prior to a ruling on the 

motion. Did the trial court err when it nonetheless considered and 

denied the motion for new trial on its merits? 

3. Did the trial court err when it denied a motion to 

reconsider its refusal to appoint new counsel to handle the motion for 

new trial? 

4. Following sentencing, appellant filed a CrR 7.8 motion 

for relief from judgment, arguing that his trial attorneys were 

ineffective in their handling of plea negotiations and by giving 

unreasonable and misleading advice concerning appellant's chances 

at trial. Did the trial court err when it denied this motion on untenable 

grounds and for untenable reasons? 
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5. The record disproves key findings the trial judge made 

in denying the CrR 7.8 motion. Are these findings erroneous? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. procedural Facts 

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged appellant Vinay 

Bharadwaj with three counts of Child Molestation in the Second 

Degree and one count of Communication with a Minor for Immoral 

Purposes. CP 484-486. Bharadwaj, who has degrees in 

engineering and formerly worked as a Microsoft software designer, 

hired attorney John Henry Browne to defend him. 3RP 1; 9RP 98-

100. 

The parties negotiated a plea deal. CP 1211-1216, 1232-

1242. A deal was never consummated, however, and - on Browne's 

advice - Bharadwaj proceeded to trial, waived his right to a jury, and 

agreed the Honorable Richard Eadie could decide the case. CP 

487; 4RP1 2-13; CP 1215-1216. Judge Eadie found Bharadwaj 

guilty as charged. 12RP 10-11 ; CP 1174-1178. 

Browne filed a motion for new trial on Bharadwaj's behalf 

This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1 RP -
1/6/11 ; 2RP - 2/7/11 ; 3RP - 9/1/11 ; 4RP - 7/30/12; 5RP - 7/31/12; 6RP - 8/1/12; 
7RP - 8/6/12; 8RP - 8/7/12; 9RP - 8/8/12; 10RP -- 8/9/12; 11RP - 8/13/12; 
12RP - 8/14/12; 13RP - 9/21112; 14RP - 1/28/13. 
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supported by multiple declarations and documentary evidence 

supporting Bharadwaj's trial defenses. CP 488-991 . By the time the 

motion was set for consideration at sentencing, however, Bharadwaj 

had been in touch with attorney David Zuckerman and was alleging 

Browne had been deficient in his representation . Consequently, 

Browne moved to withdraw, and Bharadwaj requested the 

appointment of new counsel and a continuance so that new counsel 

could supplement the motion for new trial with additional claims, 

including claims against Browne. 13RP 3-6, 8-11 , 14-15. 

Judge Eadie believed he could solve the conflict by simply 

dispensing with oral argument on the motion for new trial (thereby 

avoiding Browne acting as an advocate for Bharadwaj at the 

hearing). 13RP 15. He denied the motion for new trial based solely 

on the written materials Browne had prepared . 13RP 15-19. He 

then sentenced Bharadwaj to 57 months and, only then, permitted 

Browne to withdraw. 13RP 31, 34-35. 

Zuckerman filed a motion for reconsideration , arguing that by 

refusing to appoint new counsel to handle the motion for new trial 

and refusing a continuance despite Browne's clear conflict of 

interest, Judge Eadie had denied Bharadwaj his constitutional right 

to counsel. CP 1180-1185. The motion was denied. CP 1188-

-4-



1189. 

Zuckerman subsequently filed a motion for relief from 

judgment under CrR 7.8, arguing Browne had been ineffective in his 

handling of plea negotiations. As discussed in far greater detail 

below, the motion alleged Browne had given Bharadwaj incomplete 

and inaccurate advice and information regarding the immigration 

consequences of certain convictions discussed during plea 

negotiations and Browne had given unreasonable and misleading 

advice regarding Bharadwaj's chances of success at trial. CP 1190-

1331 . The motion was denied. CP 1342. 

Bharadwaj timely appealed . CP 1186-1187, 1343-1349. 

2. Substantive Facts 

Vinay Bharadwaj was born and raised in India. 9RP 97-98. 

After obtaining a Bachelor's degree in electrical engineering, he 

moved to the United States and obtained a Master's degree in 

electrical and computer engineering from Rice University. 9RP 98-

99. In 2002, Microsoft hired Bharadwaj as a software designer, 

prompting his move to the Seattle area. 9RP 100. 

In March 2005, Bharadwaj had a life altering experience. He 

attended a talk, at the University of Washington, by a young and 
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dynamic Swami named Nithyananda (hereinafter "Swami,,).2 9RP 

101, 105-106. Headquartered in India, the Swami conducts 

meditation and yoga programs in the United States sponsored by his 

Life Bliss Foundation . 6RP 63-66, 165-168; 9RP 112-113. The 

foundation also makes money from the sale of books and CDs. 9RP 

18-19. The Swami seeks and obtains the devotion of his followers, 

who often wear a necklace containing his image. Followers 

sometimes leave professional jobs to serve without compensation 

and follow the Swami's dictates on where they may live and who 

they may date. 5RP 84-85; 6RP 90-93, 166; 9RP 46-49, 84, 105-

106,123,133. 

Bharadwaj began attending other programs presented by the 

Swami in Washington and California. 9RP 107-108. In May 2005, 

during a program in Northern California, the Swami invited 

Bharadwaj to a private room and asked him to press his feet. Any 

physical contact with a Swami is seen as a blessing, and Bharadwaj 

complied. 9RP 108-111. The Swami began discussing sexual 

energy and eventually kissed Bharadwaj on his neck and face. 9RP 

2 "Swami" means "master or lord" and is "used as a form of respectful 
address to a Hindu religious teacher or monk " Webster's Third New Int'I 
Dictionary 2306 (1993). 
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111-112. 

Later this same month, Bharadwaj traveled to India and 

visited the Ashram, the center of the Swami's organization. 9RP 

112-113. In another private meeting, the Swami told Bharadwaj that 

he was looking out for his best interests and was incapable of doing 

wrong even if Bharadwaj did not like what was happening. He began 

to kiss Bharadwaj again and fondled his genitals. Although 

Bharadwaj is heterosexual, at the Swami's direction, Bharadwaj 

performed oral sex on the Swami. 9RP 114-115. 

In the several years that followed, Bharadwaj continued to 

have sexual contact with the Swami at meetings throughout the 

United States and India based on the Swami's assurances these 

encounters would lead to Bharadwaj's enlightenment. 9RP 118-121, 

124-126, 128-133. Eventually, the Swami required abstinence from 

Bharadwaj with the exception of sex with the Swami himself. 9RP 

128. The Swami also directed Bharadwaj to end his relationship with 

a woman whom he had hoped to marry. He obeyed. 9RP 105-106, 

123. 

Bharadwaj was promoted within the organization. He was 

directed to coordinate and teach programs in Vancouver, B.C. 9RP 

117. He was ordained an "Ashram member" at the foundation's U.S. 
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headquarters in Los Angeles and later ascended to "level two 

training monk." 9RP 119-120, 130. Eventually, he was given a 

leading role in the establishment and operation of a Redmond 

temple, which opened in February 2008. 5RP 30-32; 6RP 17, 146; 

7RP 65-66; 9RP 23-24,131-132,165. Later that year, the Swami 

directed Bharadwaj to leave his job at Microsoft and work for the 

foundation without compensation. Again, Bharadwaj complied. 9RP 

133. 

Eventually, Bharadwaj's fondness for, and devotion to, the 

Swami waned. The Swami last attempted sexual contact with 

Bharadwaj during a March 2009 meeting in Toronto, but Bharadwaj 

was able to avoid it. 9RP 143-144; 10RP 5. At this same meeting, 

Bharadwaj confronted the Swami regarding administrative concerns 

and issues other members had raised about the foundation. 9RP 

144. 

In April 2009, the Swami removed Bharadwaj from his post in 

Redmond and ordered him to Los Angeles. 9RP 146-147. In May 

2009, the Swami and his second in command, Gopal Reddy - who 

coordinates the foundation's U.S. activities - presented Bharadwaj 

with a non-disclosure agreement concerning sexual activities with the 

Swami, but Bharadwaj refused to sign. 9RP 122, 148-149. 
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From late May 2009 to late July 2009, Bharadwaj was in 

India, where he had additional unpleasant interactions with the 

Swami. 9RP 150. Moreover, the foundation made a second attempt 

to convince Bharadwaj to sign a non-disclosure agreement. This 

time, Prasad Malladi, a priest at the Redmond temple, presented the 

agreement. 7RP 66; 9RP 151 . 

Bharadwaj knew the Malladi family well. Prasad's wife -

Sarita Malladi - helped establish the Redmond temple and was a 

frequent volunteer. 5RP 27-30. The Malladi's thirteen-year-old 

daughter, S.M., also was active at the temple and, at the Malladi's 

request, Bharadwaj had served as her tutor and helped her with 

homework. 5RP 29-30, 33-34; 8RP 49-50. The Malladi family also 

has an older son, named after the Swami, who spent considerable 

time living at the Ashram. 5RP 26, 86; 8RP 29-33. Despite Prasad 

Malladi's urging, however, Bharadwaj again refused to sign a non

disclosure agreement. 9RP 151. 

By July 2009, Bharadwaj had shared his concerns about the 

Swami with other foundation members, concluded the foundation 

was a cult, and decided to flee. 9RP 151, 154. He made no secret 

about the sexual abuse he had endured, even discussing the matter 

with the Swami's personal secretary. 9RP 163. 
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On August 2, 2009, Bharadwaj received an e-mail from S.M. 

letting him know that Gopal Reddy (the Swami's second in 

command) was threatening her and saying terrible things about 

Bharadwaj to her and the Malladi family. She indicated she was 

confused. 9RP 157. 

On November 9, 2009, Reddy sent a threatening e-mail to 

Bharadwaj informing him that a minor had signed a letter regarding 

him. Reddy did not, however, provide details of the letter at that 

time. 9RP 159-160. In the letter, written by S.M. on November 8 

and notarized at a foundation event in Los Angeles, S.M. claimed 

that she and Bharadwaj had been secretly communicating with one 

another and that Bharadwaj had encouraged her not to tell her 

parents. 6RP 55-56, 77-79; 7RP 81-84. S.M. did not yet allege any 

sexual improprieties. 6RP 56. 

In March 2010, a sex video featuring the Swami and an Indian 

actress went public. 6RP 163. Moreover, the Swami was jailed on 

criminal charges filed by Indian authorities. 9RP 163-164. 

Bharadwaj was contacted by the Indian equivalent of the FBI and 

agreed to testify against the Swami. 9RP 164. Bharadwaj's life was 

about to change forever. 

On June 2, 2010, the Malladi family obtained a temporary 
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restraining order prohibiting Bharadwaj from having contact with their 

daughter, S.M. 5RP 65; 7RP 92-93; 9RP 164-165. Bharadwaj was 

served with the order several days later. 5RP 109-110; 9RP 165. At 

a June 15 hearing to consider a permanent restraining order, the 

judge heard from the Malladi family and denied their request. 5RP 

74-75; 7RP 93; 9RP 165. 

Later that day, S.M. made her first allegations of sexual 

misconduct against Bharadwaj, accusing him of improprieties in an 

8-page letter to her parents. 5RP 77; 6RP 77-81; 7RP 95-96. The 

family eventually contacted Redmond Police, who contacted the 

King County Prosecutor's Office. 5RP 79-80; 6RP 107-108. 

Charges were filed in November 2010. CP 1-6. Bharadwaj had no 

prior criminal history and was permitted to remain out of custody. 

1RP 2; CP 3. 

King County Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Sean 

O'Donnell was assigned to the case and interviewed S.M. on 

February 10, 2011. 7RP 32-35. S.M.'s loyalty to the Swami was 

apparent; it was clear to O'Donnell that the Swami was a major 

influence in S.M.'s life. 7RP 41. She arrived at the interview wearing 

a necklace containing the Swami's photograph. 7RP 36-37. She 

related how Bharadwaj had told her the Swami was using his power 
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to do bad things, which made her doubt Bharadwaj. 7RP 37-39. 

S.M. said the Swami was "like a mother" to her, the Swami would do 

whatever was good for her, and, notably, that she would even lie for 

the Swami, although she added that he had never asked her to lie 

and she was not lying for him. 7RP 41-42, 49-50. At one point, 

however, S.M. also told O'Donnell she would do anything to stop 

Bharadwaj from saying bad things about the Swami. 7RP 44. 

Subsequently, at trial, S.M. accused Bharadwaj of repeatedly 

molesting her from late November 2008 to March 2009. 6RP 17-48. 

According to S.M., in the summer of 2008, Bharadwaj had begun 

showing her special attention, which included prolonged hugs and 

handholding. 6RP 16-17. In mid-November 2008, while attending a 

temple function in Los Angeles, Bharadwaj met with her in private, 

questioned her about her relationship with a boy, and hugged and 

kissed her. 6RP 17-20. Thereafter, Bharadwaj began coming by her 

home when her parents were not there, calling her late at night, and 

encouraging her to call him. 6RP 20, 23-30. It was during one of 

these visits that Bharadwaj kissed her on the lips for the first time. 

6RP 30. 

According to S.M., the relationship became sexual at the end 

of November 2008. S.M.'s grandmother was ill and being treated at 
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Overlake Hospital. 6RP 30-32. Bharadwaj visited the hospital to 

conduct a healing meditation. 6RP 32. Thereafter, S.M. did not 

want to stay at the hospital, so her father permitted her to go with 

Bharadwaj to the temple. 6RP 32-33. They left around 7:00 p.m., 

but Bharadwaj took her to his apartment instead, where they kissed 

and Bharadwaj touched her breasts. 6RP 33-36. S.M. testified that 

after one to two hours, they drove to the temple. When asked where 

they had been, S.M. said they had gone to Jamba Juice. 5RP 50-

51; 6RP 36-37, 145. 

According to S.M., in the months that followed, Bharadwaj 

would take her to his apartment or the two would go to Bharadwaj's 

car, where they would kiss, he would touch her breasts, and/or he 

would get on top of her while thrusting his penis against her through 

clothing. 6RP 40-48. S.M. claimed that between the first sexual 

contact in late November 2008 and the last sexual contact in March 

2009, there were seven incidents at Bharadwaj's apartment and 

seven or eight more in his car. 6RP 47-48. 

In an attempt to bolster S.M.'s version of events, the 

prosecution called Sarita Malladi, Prasad Mallaai, and Kavita 

Gaddam to testify. 

Mrs. Malladi testified she and others had been concerned 
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about her daughter's frequent phone communications with 

Bharadwaj. 5RP 36-47. According to Mrs. Malladi, she told 

Bharadwaj to stop calling S.M. after 10:00 p.m., but he continued to 

do so. 5RP 47-49. She testified about the evening in which 

Bharadwaj left Overlake with S.M. and did not show up at the temple 

until hours later; an occasion at the temple where Bharadwaj said he 

was measuring S.M.'s height on the wall, but she felt Bharadwaj was 

inappropriately physically close to her daughter; and another time 

when she saw Bharadwaj being playful with S.M.'s feet. 5RP 49-55. 

Mrs. Malladi claimed that she once complained to Gopal Reddy 

about Bharadwaj, but the contact with her daughter continued. 5RP 

56-59,103. 

Both Mr. and Mrs. Malladi testified that, in January 2010, the 

family began getting frequent anonymous telephone calls. Although 

Bharadwaj had left Seattle for California in early 2009, they attributed 

the calls to him. 5RP 63; 7RP 84-85, 91-92. In June 2010, based 

primarily on the anonymous calls, the family obtained the temporary 

restraining order against Bharadwaj. 5RP 65, 71, 120; 8RP 67-68. 

She and her husband heard nothing about sexual abuse, however, 

until S.M. made her claims after denial of the permanent restraining 

order. 5RP 74-78; 7RP 93-97. 
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Kavita Gaddam, a temple priest who lived with the Malladi 

family for more than two years and took over Bharadwaj's role at the 

Redmond Temple upon his departure, testified she often saw 

Bharadwaj behave inappropriately with S.M. 6RP 148-162, 174. In 

addition to repeating some of Mrs. Malladi's claims about 

inappropriate contact and phone calls, she testified that Bharadwaj 

and S.M. were often alone together at the temple, and S.M. would 

blush and giggle around him. 6RP 148-162. Like the other 

prosecution witnesses, Gaddam's continued support for the Swami 

was apparent. She also wore jewelry containing his picture, she had 

helped edit a book about him, and she claimed the sex video 

showing him with an actress was a digitally altered fraud . 6RP 166-

171 . 

The prosecution also presented phone records for 

Bharadwaj's and S.M.'s cell phones. 6RP 110-111 . These records 

showed frequent contacts between the two from November 2008 to 

May 2009, sometimes late at night, with a majority of the calls placed 

by S.M. 6RP 117-120, 136. 

The defense called several witnesses in support of its claim 

that S.M.'s false allegations were merely the product of the 

foundation's attempts to silence Bharadwaj and prevent his 
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testimony against the Swami in India. 

Keshan Reddy, an Indian real estate developer formerly 

involved with the foundation, testified to a conversation he observed 

in December 2009 involving the Swami, Mrs. Malladi, and S.M. 8RP 

86-87. Gopal Reddy also was present. 8RP 89. Keshan Reddy 

heard the Swami say to S.M., "no, do not think that you're filing a 

false complaint against Vinay. The cosmic rule is you are fighting 

negativity by supporting an enlightened master." 8RP 88. The 

Swami continued, "you are the chosen one. You will be blessed for 

eternity ... be blissful, and coordinate back that will coordinate with 

you." 8RP 89. 

Rhonda Rose, also a former foundation member, testified that 

while at the Los Angeles conference in November 2009 (where S.M. 

wrote her first letter alleging inappropriate contact with Bharadwaj), 

she observed Mr. Malladi and Gopal Reddy enter the Swami's 

chambers for a meeting that lasted a couple of hours. 9RP 45-53, 

56-57. During this meeting, another member who served as the 

temple notary was frantically looking for his notary stamp before 

walking back to where the meeting was occurring. 9RP 53-54,57. 

Regarding late night phone calls between members, Rose 

testified that such calls and meetings were routine when conducting 
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foundation business and included teens, who were highly active in 

foundation activities. 9RP 54. Another former member, Madeline 

Oliver, testified conference calls were commonly made late at night 

because everyone was busy during the day with other obligations. 

9RP 28-30. Moreover, because everyone went to bed so late, it was 

not uncommon to call other temple members late at night. 9RP 32. 

Foundation member Varaprasad Ballingham agreed. He testified 

that foundation business typically was conducted in the evenings, 

sometimes as late as 2:00 a.m., partly because it involved calls to 

India. 9RP 82-83. According to Ballingham, S.M. was active in 

temple activities in 2008 and 2009, but he never saw any 

inappropriate behavior between Bharadwaj and S.M. 9RP 83, 89-

90. 

Bharadwaj took the stand in his own defense. 9RP 96. He 

detailed his history with the Swami - his initial exposure to the 

foundation, the Swami's sexual abuse, his ascendancy in the 

organization, and his ultimate decision to flee and become a witness

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