NO. 69453-7-I

2

(.)

03

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION I** 

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

VINAY BHARADWAJ,

Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RICHARD EADIE

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

## C. ARGUMENT

## 1. THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISED SOUND DISCRETION IN DENYING TRIAL COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW PRIOR TO SENTENCING AND IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL UNDER CrR 7.5.

Bharadwaj first claims that the trial court erred by not allowing trial counsel to withdraw prior to sentencing and by not appointing new counsel to litigate Bharadwaj's motion for a new trial. More specifically, Bharadwaj claims that trial counsel had a conflict of interest because Bharadwaj alleged that counsel was ineffective during plea negotiations. Bharadwaj further argues that the trial court did not "cure the problem" by considering the motion for new trial without oral argument before proceeding to sentencing, and he argues that this case should be assigned to a different judge upon remand to re-consider the motion for a new trial. Brief of Appellant, at 19-29.

This claim should be rejected. Bharadwaj's bare allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel at the hearing on September

21, 2012 was insufficient to establish an actual conflict of interest that would warrant appointing new counsel prior to sentencing. This is particularly so given that the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel did not concern the pending motion for a new trial or the sentencing. Furthermore, Bharadwaj's motion for a new trial was based on hearsay about the scandal involving the Swami and the purported conspiracy against Bharadwaj allegedly concocted by the Swami and his followers, including the victim and her family. The trial court had already considered evidence of this theory at trial, and the trial court rejected that evidence and found that the victim was credible. Accordingly, because the motion for a new trial was based on cumulative evidence that the trial court rejected in any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion without appointing new counsel for Bharadwaj before proceeding to sentencing.

A defendant is entitled to reversal due to a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free counsel only if the defendant demonstrates that counsel had an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected counsel's performance. <u>Mickens v. Taylor</u>, 535 U.S. 162, 171-72, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 152 L. Ed. 2d 291 (2002); <u>State v. Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d 559, 573, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). When counsel is burdened by an actual conflict of interest, prejudice is presumed because the effect of an actual conflict on the outcome of the trial is nearly impossible to quantify. However, "[p]rejudice is presumed only if the defendant demonstrates that counsel 'actively represented conflicting interests' and that 'an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 692, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) (quoting <u>Cuyler v. Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980)).

A defendant who claims that counsel had a conflict of interest must show two things: 1) that counsel actively represented conflicting interests; and 2) that counsel had an actual conflict that adversely affected his or her performance. <u>State v. Tjeerdsma</u>, 104 Wn. App. 878, 882, 17 P.3d 678 (2001). An actual conflict occurs "if, during the course of the representation, the parties' interests diverge with respect to a 'material factual or legal issue, or a course of action." <u>Id.</u> at 883 (quoting <u>State v. Robinson</u>, 79 Wn. App. 386, 394, 902 P.2d 652 (1995), quoting <u>Sullivan v. Cuyler</u>, 723 F.2d 1077, 1086 (3d Cir. 1983)). Counsel's performance is adversely affected if the conflict "hampered [the] defense." <u>Tjeerdsma</u>, 104 Wn. App. at 883 (quoting <u>Robinson</u>, 79 Wn. App. at 395, quoting

- 17 -

1401-25 Bharadwaj COA

A possible conflict, as opposed to an actual conflict, will not suffice to meet this standard. <u>Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 573; *see also* <u>State v. Davis</u>, 141 Wn.2d 798, 861, 10 P.3d 977 (2000) (a "mere possibility of a conflict" is not sufficient to call the defendant's conviction into question). Accordingly, a defendant is not entitled to a new lawyer based on a bare allegation that the current lawyer was ineffective. To justify appointment of new counsel, a defendant "must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant." <u>State v. Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 734, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

A trial court's decision to deny a motion for new counsel based on an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Varga</u>, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004). A trial court abuses its discretion only if

- 18 -

its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds. <u>State v. Enstone</u>, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679-80, 974 P.2d 828 (1999). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion only if it finds that no reasonable person would have ruled as the trial judge did. <u>State v. Atsbeha</u>, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 16 P.3d 626 (2001).

In this case, Bharadwaj raised an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel just before sentencing and while his motion for a new trial was pending. The allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel did not concern counsel's performance at trial, the motion for a new trial under CrR 7.5 that counsel had already filed, or the pending sentencing. Rather, the allegation that was stated on the record was that trial counsel had not tried hard enough to convince Bharadwaj to take the prosecutor's pretrial offer to plead guilty to CMIP. RP (9/21/12) 5-7. This unsupported allegation<sup>2</sup> had nothing to do with the pending motion for a new trial under CrR 7.5 or with sentencing; thus, there was no reason for the trial court to

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In addition, the allegation was later shown to be unfounded, as Bharadwaj's new attorney conceded that a guilty plea to CMIP would likely have resulted in deportation. RP (1/28/13) 7.

delay the motion for new trial or the sentencing by allowing trial counsel to withdraw.<sup>3</sup>

Moreover, although trial counsel was incorrect in stating that he could not provide oral argument for the motion for a new trial due to a conflict of interest (because there was no actual conflict), the parties and the trial court *were* correct that the trial court could consider the motion for a new trial based on the pleadings without oral argument. *See* <u>State v. Bandura</u>, 85 Wn. App. 87, 92-93, 931 P.2d 174, <u>rev. denied</u>, 132 Wn.2d 1004 (1997) (oral argument on post-trial motions is discretionary). Furthermore, as the trial court found, the evidence submitted in support of the motion for a new trial did not qualify as newly-discovered evidence and would not have made a difference to the outcome of the trial in any event.

As the Washington Supreme Court has explained,

In order to obtain a new trial based upon newly discovered evidence, a defendant must prove that the evidence: (1) will probably change the result of the

- 20 -

1401-25 Bharadwaj COA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is also worth noting that trial counsel advocated for, and Bharadwaj received, a sentence at the low end of the standard range on the felony charges. RP (9/21/12) 27-31; CP 1160-70. This demonstrates that counsel's performance was not adversely affected by the alleged conflict of interest, and it is likely the reason that Bharadwaj makes no claims on appeal regarding the sentencing.

trial; (2) was discovered after the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) is material; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. A new trial may be denied if any one of these factors is absent.

State v. Macon, 128 Wn.2d 784, 800, 911 P.2d 1004 (1996) (footnotes and citations omitted). Here, trial counsel submitted a motion under CrR 7.5(a)(3) and hundreds of pages of supporting documentation.<sup>4</sup> CP 488-1159. This material was submitted in an effort to impeach the victim's testimony in two ways: 1) by attempting to show that Bharadwaj could have been traveling or otherwise occupied on dates that the victim said incidents of molestation took place; and 2) by providing additional support for the theory that the Swami and his followers were orchestrating a conspiracy to discredit Bharadwaj, which included false allegations of sexual abuse by the victim and her family.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Bharadwaj suggests that the motion and supporting documents were "the incomplete submissions of a conflicted attorney[.]" Brief of Appellant, at 26. This suggestion is contrary to the record for at least two reasons. First, the motion and supporting documents were submitted before the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel was raised. Second, the sheer volume of materials belies the notion that the submissions were somehow "incomplete" as the result of an actual conflict of interest.

The trial court reviewed these materials,<sup>5</sup> correctly stated the applicable legal standards, and found: 1) that much of the evidence was inadmissible hearsay; 2) that much of the evidence was cumulative because evidence of the "conspiracy theory" had already been presented at trial; 3) that although the court had the alleged conspiracy in mind when considering the testimony of the victim, the court concluded that her testimony had not been "tainted by outside sources"; 4) that the victim's testimony was very credible and not coached or fabricated; and, therefore, 5) that the evidence submitted in support of the motion for a new trial would not have changed the outcome of the trial. RP (9/21/12) 15-19. Given that there was no actual conflict of interest, and that the trial court's findings on the motion for a new trial are supported by the record and are based on credibility determinations that cannot be reviewed,<sup>6</sup> there is simply no basis upon which to grant

· · .'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial judge admitted that he did not "read every word of the attachments," but stated that he had "a good sense of what they are and read [the] declarations." RP (9/21/12) 9. The judge further stated that he "went through a lot of the materials that came in and all the affidavits." RP (9/21/12) 16. The record demonstrates that the trial court was focusing on sworn statements rather than statements that were "not signed" or "weren't made under oath," and were thus of more dubious origin and credibility. RP (9/21/12) 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Appellate courts "do not review credibility determinations on appeal, leaving them to the fact finder." <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 152 Wn. App. 945, 951, 219 P.3d 964 (2009).

Bharadwaj's request for a remand to reconsider the motion for a new trial with new counsel.

. · . ·

Nonetheless, Bharadwaj contends that remand is required, and that a different judge should consider the motion for a new trial upon remand because the trial court "has already improperly prejudged Bharadwaj's motion[.]" Brief of Appellant, at 27. This suggestion should be rejected as well. As fact-finder in this case, the trial judge was in a unique position to determine whether the materials submitted as newly-discovered evidence would have called the victim's credibility into question, and hence, whether the evidence would have made a difference to the outcome of the trial. See State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 646, 870 P.2d 313 (1994) ("The trier of fact is in a better position to assess the credibility of witnesses, take evidence, and observe the demeanor of those testifying."). Accordingly, it was not only proper for the trial court to consider the motion for a new trial, it was necessary. In addition, the trial court's ruling denying a motion for a new trial under CrR 7.5(a)(3) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Statler, 160 Wn. App. 622, 631, 248 P.3d 165, rev. denied, 172 Wn.2d 1002 (2011). Bharadwaj has not shown that the trial court abused

- 23 -

its discretion in denying the motion based on its findings from the trial, and thus, the trial court should be affirmed.

Lastly, Bharadwaj suggests that the trial court's denial of his motion for reconsideration further demonstrates that the trial court's actions were improper. Brief of Appellant, at 27. But the motion for reconsideration merely repeated the unsubstantiated claims that were raised, and rejected, at the hearing on September 21, 2012. CP 1180-85. Nevertheless, the trial court again considered the materials submitted in support of the motion for a new trial, and again found them unpersuasive. CP 1188-89. The trial court's denial of the motion for reconsideration was proper as well.

In sum, Bharadwaj has not demonstrated that trial counsel had an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected his performance based on an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel during plea negotiations. The allegation was both unsupported and unrelated to the pending motion for a new trial and the sentencing. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying trial counsel's motion to withdraw, in considering and denying the motion for a new trial, and in proceeding with the sentencing. This Court should reject Bharadwaj's claims to the contrary, and affirm.

- 24 -

## 2. THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION PROPERLY IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT UNDER CrR 7.8 BECAUSE THE STATE NEVER WOULD HAVE OFFERED THE PLEA BARGAIN IN QUESTION.

Bharadwaj also claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion for relief from judgment under CrR 7.8 on grounds that he received ineffective assistance of counsel during plea negotiations. More specifically, he argues that trial counsel's failure to obtain a plea agreement for assault in the third degree with sexual motivation and counsel's advice regarding the risks of trial constituted constitutionally deficient representation, and that reversal is required on that basis. Bharadwaj contends that this Court should order the State to make a plea offer of third-degree assault with sexual motivation on remand, or, in the alternative, that this Court should reverse Bharadwaj's convictions. Brief of Appellant, at 29-57.

This claim is without merit. All other allegations aside, the record is clear that the State did not make a formal plea offer for third-degree assault with sexual motivation, and that the State never would have made such an offer in the manner required to minimize the chances that Bharadwaj would be deported. More specifically, the record unequivocally establishes that the King

County Prosecuting Attorney's Office would not have agreed to redact references to the victim's age from the record to conceal the fact that Bharadwaj's crimes had been committed against a child. On this basis alone, this Court should affirm.

A trial court's ruling denying a motion for arrest of judgment under CrR 7.8 is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v.</u> <u>Martinez</u>, 161 Wn. App. 436, 440, 253 P.3d 445, <u>rev. denied</u>, 172 Wn.2d 1011 (2011). Accordingly, a reviewing court will not reverse the trial court's ruling unless the defendant demonstrates that the trial court's decision is unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds. <u>Id.</u>

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet both prongs of a stringent two-part test by showing: 1) that counsel's performance was actually deficient (the performance prong); and 2) that the deficient performance resulted in actual prejudice (the prejudice prong). <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Counsel's performance is deficient only when it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. <u>State v. Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Prejudice occurs only

when, but for the deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 335. If either prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test has not been met, the reviewing court does not need to consider the other prong. <u>In re Personal Restraint of Riley</u>, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780, 863 P.2d 554 (1993).

The two-part <u>Strickland</u> test applies to plea bargaining as well as trial. <u>Lafler v. Cooper</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1384, 182 L. Ed. 2d 298 (2012). Accordingly, in a case involving an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel during plea bargaining, a defendant must show that the advice received during plea negotiations was constitutionally deficient in order to satisfy the performance prong, and must also show that a plea agreement would have been finalized in order to satisfy the prejudice prong. Put another way, the defendant must show that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, a plea agreement would have been offered by the State, accepted by the defendant, and ratified by the court:

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